IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

D'MARCO MOBLEY,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Monica Benton

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Susan F. Wilk Attorney for Appellant Law Office of Michael Iaria, PLLC

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

D'Marco Mobley was prosecuted for multiple criminal offenses arising out of his alleged pimping of three young women. Prior to trial, the State tendered a plea offer in which the State miscalculated the potential sentence that Mobley faced if he went to trial. Instead of conducting his own research regarding the potential sentence, defense counsel accepted the State's calculation as correct. As a consequence, he told Mobley that if he was convicted, his sentences for two counts of rape in the first degree would run concurrently, not consecutively. In reliance on his counsel's erroneous advice, Mobley went to trial.

The United States Supreme Court has held that an accused person who does not accept a plea offer, and instead goes to trial based upon his counsel's misadvice, has been denied his Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel at a critical stage of the proceedings and is entitled to relief. Here, Mobley is entitled to have his convictions and sentence set aside so that he may be placed in the status quo ante, and decide whether to accept the State's plea offer based upon a correct apprehension of the sentencing consequences of being convicted at trial.

Mobley's ineffective assistance of counsel claim is dispositive. If this Court nevertheless reaches the trial errors, this Court should hold that Mobley's conviction for kidnapping in the first degree with a firearm enhancement merges into the rape in the first degree convictions of which it was an element, and that under the law of the case doctrine the State did not prove that Mobley committed the offense of promoting commercial sexual abuse of a minor. Other errors, both pretrial and during trial, separately warrant reversal of Mobley's convictions and remand for a new trial.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Defense counsel's misadvisement regarding the sentencing consequences of trial versus a guilty plea denied Mobley the effective assistance of counsel he was guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment.
- In violation of the Fourteenth Amendment guarantee of equal protection, the trial court erred in denying Mobley's <u>Batson</u> objection to the State's peremptory challenge of an African-American juror.
- The trial court abused its discretion in finding testimony from the State's prostitution expert witness was relevant, not cumulative, and admissible.
- 4. Prejudicial misconduct by prosecution witness Richard McMartin violated Mobley's Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial and was not cured by an instruction telling the jury to disregard the testimony.

- 5. The evidence was insufficient to support Mobley's conviction on count I, commercial sexual abuse of a minor, as the crime was prosecuted by the State and submitted to the jury.
- 6. The trial court's failure to merge at sentencing count 3, charging kidnapping in the first degree, with counts 6 and 7, charging rape in the first degree based on kidnapping, violated Mobley's Fifth Amendment right to be free from double jeopardy.
- 7. The use of juvenile adjudications to elevate Mobley's SRA offender score and the maximum punishment to which he was exposed violated his Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial and Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 8. Cumulative error denied Mobley his Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial.

C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

1. The Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel at critical stages of the proceedings extends to the plea bargaining stage, and is applicable when, based on the erroneous advice of counsel, an accused person rejects a plea offer and goes to trial. Defense counsel affirmatively misadvised Mobley that if he was convicted as charged at trial, his sentences on serious violent offenses would run concurrently with, rather than consecutive to, one another. In reliance on this advice

Mobley rejected a guilty plea offer that would have substantially reduced the charges and his potential penalty. Did defense counsel render ineffective assistance of counsel, requiring remand so the State can reoffer the original plea deal? (Assignment of Error 1)

- 2. The equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment prohibits racial discrimination in jury selection. The prosecutor struck a black potential juror claiming that her answers to a question from defense counsel caused him to want more information from her, instead of asking the court's permission to ask follow-up questions. Did the strike violate the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment? (Assignment of Error 2)
- 3. Expert testimony is admissible only if it concerns a topic outside the knowledge of the average lay juror and is relevant to an issue to be decided at trial. Expert testimony should be excluded if it is unduly prejudicial or cumulative of other evidence in the case. Where the State called as witnesses three prostitutes who educated the jury about pimp-prostitute culture, the subject-matter of the prosecution expert's testimony was highly prejudicial, and the expert's testimony had the effect of vouching for the prostitutes' veracity, should the expert's testimony have been excluded? (Assignment of Error 3)

- 4. Prejudicial misconduct by the prosecution may deny an accused person his right to a fair trial guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment. Did testimony from a police officer regarding Mobley's extensive criminal history and known possession of weapons constitute misconduct that denied Mobley a fair trial? Was a curative instruction insufficient to dispel the taint from the prejudicial testimony? (Assignment of Error 4)
- 5. Under Washington's "law of the case doctrine", the State assumes the burden of proving added elements that have been included without objection in the "to convict" instruction. For purposes of count I, Promoting Commercial Sexual Abuse of a Minor, the "to convict" instruction required the State to prove that Mobley "knowingly profited from a minor engaged in sexual conduct." Where the State presented no evidence that Mobley knew that the young woman in question was a minor or was aware of facts or circumstances that would cause a reasonable person to believe she was a minor, did the State fail to present sufficient evidence to prove the elements of the offense under the law of the case? (Assignment of Error 5)
- 6. Where the evidence was insufficient to prove the alternative means of committing the crime that Mobley knowingly advanced J.J.'s commercial sexual abuse must Mobley's conviction be reversed and dismissed? Alternatively, where this Court cannot conclude that the jury

was unanimous as to this means, is Mobley entitled to a new trial?

(Assignment of Error 5)

- 7. The Fifth Amendment's double jeopardy clause protects against multiple punishments for the same offense. Washington's merger doctrine is predicated on double jeopardy principles and requires that where a defendant is charged with multiple offenses, one of which merges into another completed offense, the offense that merged with the separately charged offense be extinguished. Mobley was prosecuted, inter alia, for kidnapping and two counts of rape. Both rape counts were elevated from second- to first-degree rape by the kidnapping. Must the kidnapping conviction be vacated and Mobley resentenced? (Assignment of Error 6)
- 8. An accused person has the Sixth Amendment and Fourteenth Amendment right to a jury determination, on proof beyond a reasonable doubt, of the facts necessary to punishment. Did the use of prior juvenile adjudications, which were found by a judge, not a jury, to enhance Mobley's punishment violate his rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment? (Assignment of Error 7)
- 9. Even where no single error standing alone merits reversal, the cumulative effect of multiple errors may deny an accused person his Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial. Was Mobley denied a fair trial by the accumulation of prejudicial errors? (Assignment of Error 8)

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Substantive facts and criminal charges.

D'Marco Mobley met A.W. in the autumn of 2010 through a mutual friend. 2/14/12 RP 44; 3/12/12 RP 112.¹ A.W. was working as a prostitute, and Mobley entered into an intimate relationship and eventually a pimp-prostitute relationship with her.² 2/14/12 RP 45, 52-55, 57; 3/12/12 RP 116. Later that fall, the two traveled together to California, where A.W. worked for Mobley as a prostitute. 2/14/12 RP 58-64.

Mobley told A.W. soon after they met that he was involved with another girl, but that she was in jail. 2/14/12 RP 56. When the other girl, Victory Rogers, came to California, Mobley resumed his relationship with her, which distressed A.W. 2/14/12 RP 64-65, 69-70. Her own relationship with Mobley deteriorated, and, according to A.W., Mobley was violent towards her. 2/14/12 RP 74-76. When they returned to Seattle, upset by Mobley's treatment of her, A.W. stopped working for Mobley and they had no further contact for a couple of months. 2/14/12 RP 80-81.

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings consists of 3,448 pages of transcripts. They are cited herein by hearing date followed by page number, e.g., 2/14/12 RP 44.

² A.W. testified that Mobley became her pimp a week and a half after they met. 2/14/12 RP 52-53. According to Mobley, A.W. did not start working for him until the two traveled with other friends to California. 3/12/12 RP 116-17.

In March 2011, A.W. returned to Mobley and resumed working for him based on an agreement that he would stop seeing Rogers and she would stop working as a street prostitute, and only get dates via the internet. 2/14/12 RP 80-81. Later that spring, they met J.B., also a prostitute. 2/14/12 RP 83-85. According to A.W., Mobley suggested that J.B. should come and work with them.³ 2/14/12 RP 85. He told A.W. that if J.B. worked with them, A.W. would not have to work so hard, and asked her to persuade J.B. to join them. Id.

J.B. thought that A.W. seemed happy, secure, and confident that she would not be hurt by a date. 2/28/12 RP 120. She liked A.W., and liked Mobley, who seemed nice, respectful, and kind. 2/28/12 RP 121-22. A.W. told J.B. that she adored Mobley, that Mobley took care of her, and that she would probably be homeless without him. 2/28/12 RP 122. J.B. found Mobley attractive and wanted to be his girlfriend. 2/28/12 RP 123-24. She started staying with him and A.W. and began to work for Mobley. 2/28/12 RP 124-28. Eventually, J.B. and Mobley had sex with one another. 2/14/12 RP 88; 2/28/12 RP 129-30.

This new relationship caused problems between Mobley and A.W. 2/28/12 RP 136. J.B. felt that A.W. was angry because J.B. was treated as well as she was and that she was jealous of J.B. 2/28/12 RP 137. The

³ Mobley testified that he never had a pimp-prostitute relationship with J.B. 3/12/12 RP 138.

situation came to a head at a Best Western on Denny Way, in Seattle, where, according to A.W., Mobley and J.B. blamed her for some missing money. 2/14/12 RP 91-94. Mobley and A.W. argued, and A.W. decided to leave Mobley. 2/14/12 RP 95. She packed her things and called a friend to pick her up. 2/14/12 RP 96.

After she left, Mobley called her on her cell phone because she left with the hotel room key and he was locked out. 2/14/12 RP 96. A.W. had left her identification card in the room and agreed to return so that they could swap possessions. 2/14/12 RP 98. According to A.W., when she came back, Mobley grabbed her and pushed her into a car driven by J.B. 2/14/12 RP 99. While J.B. drove, Mobley abused A.W. physically and J.B. abused her verbally. 2/14/12 RP 99-100; 2/28/12 RP 141-43. In SeaTac, Mobley got out of the car and A.W. ran away. 2/14/12 RP 101. She did not report the alleged beating to the police. 2/14/12 RP 114.

J.B. continued to work for Mobley. 2/28/12 RP 144. In May 2011, Mobley went to Tennessee for the funeral of a close relative. 2/27/12 RP 77-78. J.B. saw this as an opportunity to leave Mobley, and sent him a text message in which she told him she would not be working for him anymore. 2/28/12 RP 145-46. She met another prostitute, J.J., with whom she got along well, and worked with her frequently. 2/28/12 RP 146-50.

J.J. claimed that she met Mobley independently through her pimp, "Boom Boom", also in the spring of 2011. 2/15/12 RP 139. She said that Mobley tried to induce her to work for him, and that on a few occasions, she gave Mobley money. 2/15/12 RP 157-61. J.J. was 17 years old during this time period. 2/15/12 RP 121. J.J. represented to Mobley and others that she was over eighteen. She went to a strip club, "Little Darlings," with Mobley and others before working for him. 2/15/12 RP 141. She also told J.B. that she was 19. 2/28/12 RP 150. Mobley believed that J.J. was 18 because he encountered her at Little Darlings and saw her smoking. 3/12/12 RP 28.

On June 19, 2011, J.B. and J.J. got a room together at the Red Roof Inn in SeaTac with the assistance of one of J.B.'s regular customers, "Jesse." 2/16/12 RP 32-33. They met up with "Kyle," a cousin of Mobley, and went with him to the Supermall in Auburn, where J.B. bought a new cell phone. 2/16/12 RP 34. Back at the hotel they posted personal advertisements on Backpage.com, a website they used to solicit customers. 2/16/12 RP 37. When they returned downstairs, they saw Mobley, who was on his way in. 2/16/12 RP 42; 2/28/12 RP 154.

⁴ According to its website, "Little Darlings" is "An Intimate Gentlemen's Club" that restricts admission to persons aged 18 and over. See http://www.littledarlings-seattle.com/contact.php, last accessed July 10, 2013.

⁵ Several individuals were referred to at trial only by their first names or nicknames. Those names are bracketed with quotation marks in this brief.

Seeing Mobley made J.J. and J.B. nervous. 2/28/12 RP 154. They ran to J.B.'s car, and J.B. took J.J. with her to an outcall. 2/28/12 RP 155. She asked Jesse if he could rearrange their hotel situation, but he explained that since she had already used the room, he could no longer cancel; she could choose to leave or stay. Id. Back at the hotel, J.B. called Mobley. 2/28/12 RP 156. He told her he just wanted to talk to her, and that he did not want her to run away. Id. J.B. agreed to speak with Mobley in his car. 2/16/12 RP 46.

Initially, when J.B. entered Mobley's car, he told her that he missed her, that he was worried about her, and that he had thought about her. 2/29/12 RP 12. J.B. explained to Mobley that she no longer had feelings for him and did not want to work for him anymore. 2/29/12 RP 8. According to J.B., Mobley became angry and aggressive. 2/28/12 RP 156; 2/29/12 RP 8, 13-14. J.B. averred that he grabbed her and took her cell phone, purse with money, and car keys. 2/29/12 RP 13-14. He told her angrily that she was with him, had been with him, and should pay him. 2/29/12 RP 16.

J.B. asked J.J. to call "Bill," J.B.'s former pimp and sometime boyfriend for assistance. 2/29/12 RP 20. Later, Bill called J.J.'s phone and told her that they should come outside. 2/19/12 RP 25. When they came downstairs to the hotel parking lot, Bill and three of his friends were

confronting Mobley. At least one was pointing a gun at him.⁶ 2/19/12 RP 25-26; 3/13/12 RP 21.

One of the men hit Mobley with a gun, and then all four men jumped him. 2/16/12 RP 68-69; 2/29/12 RP 26, 49-50; 3/13/12 RP 21. They took his phone, his car keys, his money, and his shoes, and beat him so severely he was rendered unconscious. 2/29/12 RP 50; 3/13/12 RP 22-24. After J.B. got her car keys back from Bill, she broke out the windows on Mobley's car. 2/16/12 RP 71. She and J.J. later drove to her father's house, in Renton. 2/16/12 RP 145.

There, they slept. When they woke up, they discovered Mobley and Kyle had tried to call them numerous times. 2/16/12 RP 147-48.

According to J.J., Mobley threatened J.B. on the phone, and they decided to call the police. 2/16/12 RP 149-50. After they called the police, someone threw a rock through the window. 2/16/12 RP 151. They saw a tall black man outside the window, but were not able to confirm his identity. 2/16/12 RP 152.

That same night, on June 20th, a friend of J.B., Chavez, stayed the night with her. 2/29/12 RP 77-78. While J.B. was driving him home, Mobley telephoned her repeatedly. 2/29/12 RP 79. He told her that he did not have a ride or any money, and that he needed a ride to his mother's

⁶ J.B. claimed that only one person was armed with a gun. 2/19/12 RP 26. Mobley said that all four men had guns. 3/13/12 RP 21.

house. <u>Id</u>. J.B. felt sorry for Mobley and agreed to pick him up. 2/29/12 RP 82. She dropped Chavez off at home and drove to the Fred Meyer in Renton, where Mobley was waiting for her. 2/29/12 RP 81-82.

Mobley asked her for a ride to Wal-Mart. 2/29/12 RP 83. Once in her car, they argued about who should drive; he said he did not feel safe with her driving, and they switched sides. 2/29/12 RP 84-85. As soon as Mobley got in the driver's seat, he pointed a gun at J.B. 2/29/12 RP 85.

Mobley instructed J.B. to wrap a black sweater she was wearing around her face, and he drove her to the Riverside Casino. <u>Id</u>. There, he parked in the parking lot and spoke briefly on the phone to someone.

2/29/12 RP 88. A few seconds later, another car pulled up beside them.

Both cars then drove to a different part of the parking lot. <u>Id</u>.

According to J.B., Mobley told her that he was going to put her in the trunk of the car and she should not scream or freak out. <u>Id</u>. He pushed her into the trunk and closed it. <u>Id</u>. J.B. believed that a second man was driving and Mobley was sitting in the back seat. Mobley questioned her about where Bill lived, and what his phone number was. He said he would not kill her, but he would kill Bill. 2/29/12 RP 91. J.B. claimed that there was a hole in the seat back, through which a gun would occasionally be inserted. 2/29/12 RP 93.

The car stopped several times. On a couple of occasions, J.B. could hear other people talking and laughing, but she could not see them. 2/29/12 RP 96-98. J.B. claimed that at one point when the car stopped, Mobley and his companion threatened to make her swallow a bullet. 2/29/12 RP 97. Mobley told her he was not really going to make her swallow the bullet, but she should pretend it had been slammed down her throat. Id. She did not believe him, and she "freaked out" and threw up. 2/29/12 RP 98. She later overheard Mobley and the other man arguing. The other man thought that Mobley was being too nice to her. 2/29/12 RP 103. He told Mobley that if he did not stop acting so nice to her, he could join her in the trunk. 2/29/12 RP 108.

Eventually J.B. fell asleep. When she woke up, Mobley let her out and put her in the back seat. 2/29/12 RP 102. According to J.B., he said he could not believe she had been in the trunk all night, and asked her how bad she felt about him being beaten up by Bill. Id. He asked if she was really sorry and if she would do anything for his forgiveness. Id. He then asked her to perform oral sex on him, and she agreed, but he was unable to sustain an erection. 2/29/12 RP 103. This made him angry, and he smacked her face away from his penis and said it was her fault that he did not get hard. 2/29/12 RP 104. She was put back in the trunk. Id.

The other man came over. Mobley put J.B.'s sweater back over her head and put her in the front passenger seat of the car. 2/19/12 RP 105. The other man was seated in the driver's seat. He told her she would have to finish what she started. 2/29/12 RP 105. She performed oral sex on the other man. Id.

After this she was put back in the trunk. Mobley got out of the car, and the other man told J.B. that she was a "brave bitch" who did everything she was told to do. 2/29/12 RP 109. He drove to a gas station where he bought her a bag of chips and an iced tea. Id. He told her that she was going to be let out, and that they were going to meet up with Mobley. 2/29/12 RP 109. Soon after, J.B. heard her Camaro pull up, her sweater was placed back over her head, and she was placed in the passenger seat of her car. 2/29/12 RP 110. When the other man drove away, Mobley told her she could take the sweater off her head. Id.

They drove to her house, where she changed her clothing. 2/29/12 RP 113. He then drove to Seward Park, where he instructed her to call her regular customers to set up dates. 2/29/12 RP 114-16. J.B. got a regular customer to book her a room at a Motel 6. 2/29/12 RP 120. While she was in the motel room, King County Detective Brian Taylor contacted her and persuaded her to leave Mobley. 2/29/12 RP 123-25; 3/1/12 RP 32-33.

The next day, J.B. participated in a sting operation that led to Mobley's arrest. 3/1/12 RP 33-35; 3/7/12 RP 151-58.

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