68766-2

68766-2

NO. 68766-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

D'MARCO MOBLEY,

Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE MONICA BENTON

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG  
King County Prosecuting Attorney

DENNIS J. McCURDY  
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney  
W554 King County Courthouse  
516 Third Avenue  
Seattle, Washington 98104  
(206) 296-9650

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

---

<sup>20</sup> A party may only assign error in the appellate court on the specific ground of the evidence objection made at trial. State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1185 (1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1020 (1986). An objection must be sufficiently specific to inform the trial court and opposing counsel of the basis for the objection and to thereby give them an opportunity to correct the alleged error. State v. Padilla, 69 Wn. App. 295, 300, 846 P.2d 564 (1993).

violence is something much more commonly understood by jurors, and thus, the analogy was a good way to help explain the pimp/prostitute relationship.

Furthermore, the defendant's claim that violence was not a part of the relationships in this case is specious. The defendant was accused of putting a gun in JB's mouth and raping her. This is hardly a non-violent act. Additionally, just some of the testimony of AW demonstrates the falseness of the defendant's claim. AW testified that the defendant initially seemed "nice," that "he cared," but that if she tried to leave him, he would beat her. 2/14/12 RP 52, 73-75. On other occasions, the defendant would threaten to kill her. Id. at 79-80, 95. During one incident, the defendant yanked AW out of a moving car by her hair and then beat her, with AW showing the jury a bald spot on her head where her hair had been ripped out. Id. at 98-99.

Finally, even if the admission of Long's testimony were regarded as an abuse of discretion, the error was harmless. See Yates, at 766. Unless the error in admitting evidence is actually prejudicial, it cannot be grounds for reversal. State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403-04, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). The rule is that "error is not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been

materially affected had the error not occurred.” Id. (citing State v. Tharp, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981)). The improper admission of evidence constitutes harmless error if the evidence is of minor significance in reference to the overall, overwhelming evidence as a whole. Id.

Here, given the nature of the charges against the defendant, Long’s testimony was relevant and helpful to the jury. Long did not offer any opinion about the guilt of the defendant or the credibility of the State’s witnesses, and thus the testimony was not unduly prejudicial. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting Long’s testimony.

**4. THE DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN STRIKING TESTIMONY THAT HE OBJECTED TO, ORDERING THE JURY TO DISREGARD THE TESTIMONY, AND DENYING HIS MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL.**

Testimony was adduced at trial that the defendant found objectionable. The testimony was struck, the jury was told to disregard the testimony, and the defendant’s motion for a mistrial was denied. The defendant has failed to prove that the trial court abused its discretion in dealing with the objectionable testimony and in denying his motion for a mistrial.

Sergeant Richard McMartin was one of the team of officers tasked with apprehending the defendant and placing him under arrest. 2/16/12

RP 100-102. The team deployed to the Fred Meyer parking lot in Renton where they waited in unmarked cars for the defendant's arrival. Id. at 102. In answering the question about what the plan was in trying to arrest the defendant, Sergeant McMartin testified that:

Basically, all we needed to do is see him, and then people would try to move in and arrest him without any issues. Because of known history with him, we expected him to be armed. So we needed enough people to block him in so he couldn't try to escape.

Id. at 102.

When the defendant's vehicle was surrounded by police vehicles, the defendant put his car in reverse and rammed Sergeant McMartin's vehicle. Id. at 106. With guns drawn, officers exited their vehicles and yelled "Police...show your hands." Id. at 109. The defendant reached down between his legs, looked around for a moment or two, and then finally raised his hands. Id. at 109; 3/6/12 RP 133-34. In between the defendant's legs was a fully loaded Russian style Tokarev 25mm handgun. 3RP 95-97.

Sergeant McMartin was then asked if in this type of situation, he was looking for weapons. He responded,

My experience and training is that anybody can be armed at any time, especially in the criminal – with somebody that has so much criminal history. He was known to have weapons from previous history.

2/16/12 RP at 110. The prosecutor then stopped Sergeant McMartin from answering further. Id.

At the next break, the defendant asked for a mistrial. Id. at 135-36. The court noted that as part of the unlawful possession of a firearm charge, the defendant had entered into a stipulation to be read to the jury that informed them that he had previously been convicted of a “serious offense.”<sup>21</sup> Id. at 137-39; 3/12/12 RP 39. It was also noted that the defendant was in fact arrested while in possession of a gun,<sup>22</sup> that the jury had already heard from one witness that the defendant possessed a gun,<sup>23</sup> and would hear further testimony concerning the same.<sup>24</sup> Considering the

---

<sup>21</sup> For the charge of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, the State was required to prove that the defendant possessed a firearm after having been previously convicted of a “serious offense.” RCW 9.41.040(1)(a). “Serious offense” means a crime of violence, a class B drug offense, second-degree child molestation, incest of a child under age fourteen, indecent liberties, leading organized crime, promoting prostitution in the first degree, rape in the third degree, drive-by shooting, sexual exploitation, vehicular assault, vehicular homicide, class B felony offenses with a finding of sexual motivation, any felony with a deadly weapon verdict, or a pre 1996 comparable offense or comparable federal offense. RCW 9.41.010(18).

<sup>22</sup> The defendant would later testify and admit that he owned the gun found between his legs. 3/13/12 RP 30-31, 38.

<sup>23</sup> AW testified that the defendant had previously shown her that he owned a gun. She further testified that the gun taken into evidence looked like the same gun. 2/14/12 RP 119-20.

<sup>24</sup> JB testified that the defendant pulled a gun on her, threatened to kill her, and made her put the barrel of the gun in her mouth. 2/29/12 RP 85, 93-94. She testified that the gun taken into evidence looked like the same gun the defendant used on her. 3/5/12 RP at 83-84.

evidence that the jury had already heard and was expected to hear,<sup>25</sup> and the vague general nature of the contested testimony,<sup>26</sup> the court stated that it believed any prejudice could be cured by an instruction. 2/16/12 RP at 139-40. The testimony was then struck and the jury instructed to disregard it. 3/13/12 RP 39. The court denied the defendant's motion for a mistrial. 2/16/12 RP 139-40.

As a general rule, a trial judge has wide discretionary powers in determining how to conduct trial and how to deal with irregularities that undoubtedly occur. State v. Gilcrist, 91 Wn.2d 603, 612, 590 P.2d 809 (1979). This is because the trial judge is in the best position to make firsthand observations and determine the appropriate actions to take in any given situation. State v. Mak, 105 Wn.2d 692, 701, 718 P.2d 407 (1986), overruled on other grounds by, State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). When a trial irregularity does occur, a court has many remedial measures available in its arsenal, with the granting of a mistrial being one of those remedies. However, the granting of a mistrial is a remedy of last resort.

A mistrial should be granted only when nothing the trial court could have said or done would have remedied the harm done to

---

<sup>25</sup> The defendant would later testify and admit that he sold weed and crack cocaine for a living, that he had multiple pending drug cases, and that at the time of the incident there were warrants out for his arrest. 3/13/12 RP 26-27, 105, 110; see also id. at 26-27; 3/12/12 RP 82, 94 (defendant's mother testifying that the defendant knew he had warrant out for his arrest, and the defendant stating that he has had multiple warrants in the past).

<sup>26</sup> Sergeant McMartin did not refer to any particular prior incident or specify any particular prior conviction.

the defendant. In other words, a mistrial should be granted only when the defendant has been so prejudiced that nothing short of a new trial can insure that the defendant will be tried fairly.

State v. Weber, 99 Wn.2d 158, 165, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983)<sup>27</sup> (citing Gilcrist, 91 Wn.2d at 612)<sup>28</sup> (other citations omitted).

The standard in reviewing the propriety of a trial court's action in dealing with a trial irregularity is an abuse of discretion. State v. Post, 118 Wn.2d 596, 620, 826 P.2d 172 (1992)<sup>29</sup> (citing Weber, 99 Wn.2d at 166). While reasonable minds might disagree with a trial court's ruling, that is not sufficient to overturn a conviction. State v. Willis, 151 Wn.2d 255, 264, 87 P.3d 1164 (2004). To prevail on appeal, a defendant must prove that no reasonable person would have taken the position adopted by the trial court. Robtoy, 98 Wn.2d at 42. A trial court's judgment "is presumed to be correct and should be sustained absent an affirmative

---

<sup>27</sup> In Weber, a felony flight/eluding case, a State's witness, the officer who stopped Weber after a lengthy pursuit, inappropriately testified – twice – concerning statements made by Weber after he was ultimately stopped. Both statements indicated that Weber was aware that he was being pursued by the officer and that he knew he was in trouble. Weber's motion for a mistrial was denied. Instead, on each occasion, the trial court instructed the jury to disregard the improper testimony. The Supreme Court upheld the trial court's decision, finding that the defendant had failed to prove the trial court abused its discretion in denying Weber's motion for a mistrial. Weber, 99 Wn.2d at 160-66.

<sup>28</sup> In Gilcrist, a first-degree assault case, the first witness called by the defendant threw a cup of water on the jurors. During closing argument, a bomb exploded outside the courtroom. The Supreme Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Gilcrist's motion for a mistrial based on the trial irregularities. Gilcrist, 91 Wn.2d at 611-13.

<sup>29</sup> In Post, a burglary and rape case, a State's witness, the investigating detective, inappropriately testified that Post became a suspect after a person called the police and gave them Post's name. The Supreme Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Post's motion for a mistrial. Post, 118 Wn.2d at 619-21.

showing of error.” State v. Wade, 138 Wn.2d 460, 464, 979 P.2d 850 (1999). After all, it is the trial court that is in the best position to evaluate prejudice. Luvene, 127 Wn.2d at 701.

Even if a trial court abused its discretion, it is only errors that actually affect the outcome of the trial that will be deemed prejudicial. Mak, 105 Wn.2d at 701 (citing Weber, 99 Wn.2d at 165).<sup>30</sup> If a trial court has instructed the jury to disregard an irregularity, the jurors are presumed to have followed that instruction. State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 864, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). A reviewing court must also presume that the jury followed the judge’s order to disregard. Weber, at 166. In determining whether a trial irregularity prejudiced a defendant to such an extent that nothing short of a mistrial should have been granted, the court will consider: (1) the seriousness of the irregularity; (2) whether the statement at issue was cumulative evidence; (3) whether the jurors were properly instructed to disregard the remarks; and (4) whether the prejudice was so

---

<sup>30</sup> In Mak, a mass murder case, the defense called a psychiatrist as a witness. The psychiatrist had also testified in the co-defendant’s trial. The prosecutor inappropriately asked the witness if the co-defendant had told him that Mak was the shooter. The trial court sustained an objection to the question. Still, the defendant moved for a mistrial. The Supreme Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Mak’s motion for a mistrial, finding that the trial judge was in the best position to determine prejudice, and the defendant could not demonstrate that the trial court had abused its discretion. Mak, 700-01.

grievous that nothing short of a new trial could remedy the error. Mak, at 701.<sup>31</sup>

The defendant fails to show that nothing short of a mistrial should have been granted. To the contrary, the trial court, in the best position to determine the potential prejudice arising from the limited testimony of Sergeant McMartin, determined that a mistrial was not appropriate. A limiting instruction, the court ruled, was sufficient. The trial court was correct. Considering the evidence adduced at trial regarding the defendant's possession of guns and his criminal history, and the limited and general nature of the challenged testimony, there is nothing so egregious as to call into serious question the trial court's discretionary ruling.

**5. THERE IS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE CHARGE OF PROMOTING COMMERCIAL SEXUAL ABUSE OF A MINOR.**

The defendant claims that the State's evidence was insufficient to support a guilty verdict on count I, promoting commercial sexual abuse of

---

<sup>31</sup> The defendant attempts to label the event that occurred here as "misconduct" by "part of the prosecution team." Def. br. at 47. The defendant's attempt to place a more provocative label on the testimony, and his citation to authority, is misguided. As the cases cited by the State show, this analysis is governed by the event, regardless of whether the irregularity came from a State's witness, defense witness, or neither. E.g. Gilcrist, 91 Wn.2d at 613 (a bomb exploded but the jurors "did not know its cause or source"). Further, the cases the defendant cites, Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 115 S. Ct. 1555, 131 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1995) and In re Stenson, 174 Wn.2d 474, 276 P.3d 286 (2012) are cases involving discovery issues. In short, these cases stand for the proposition that the prosecutor is imputed with knowing what discovery items are in police custody or control. The cases have nothing to do with trial irregularities.

a minor. His argument is premised on secondary claim, his assertion that the “to convict” jury instruction added an additional non-required, non-statutory element to the crime that the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt. Specifically, the defendant claims that the State was required to prove a non-statutory element that he knew the victim was less than 18 years of age. This argument should be rejected. When read in a commonsense manner, the jury instructions did not add an additional element that the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt. If the defendant believed the jury instructions were not clear on this point, his remedy was to ask for a clarifying instruction.

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, it permits a rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Tilton, 149 Wn.2d 775, 786, 72 P.3d 735 (2003). A reviewing court will draw all reasonable inferences from the evidence in favor of the State and interpret the evidence most strongly against the defendant. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). A factual sufficiency review “does not require the reviewing court to determine whether it believes the evidence at trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt but rather only whether any rational trier of fact could be so convinced.” State v. Smith, 31 Wn. App. 226, 640 P.2d 25 (1982).

Circumstantial evidence is equally as reliable as direct evidence. State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

A person is guilty of promoting commercial sexual abuse of a minor “if he or she knowingly advances commercial sexual abuse or a sexually explicit act of a minor or profits from a minor engaged in sexual conduct or a sexually explicit act.” RCW 9.68A.101(1). Under the statute, “it is not a defense that the defendant did not know the alleged victim’s age.” RCW 9.68A.110(3).

It is true that under the “law of the case” doctrine, jury instructions not objected to become the law of the case. State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 100-02, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). Thus, the State may assume the burden of proving otherwise unnecessary elements of an offense when the added element is included in the “to convict” instruction without objection. Id.

Here, the definition of the crime instruction read as follows:

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